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I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF SUR-REPLY 

Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP and its attorneys (“Robbins Geller” or the “Firm”) 

conducted an inquiry that was “reasonable under the circumstances” as required by Rule 11.  It was 

reasonable to rely on interviews of Singh to support allegations specifically identified as 

“[a]ccording to” Singh, particularly when all available information was consistent with the 

information Singh provided.  Despite 45 pages of briefing, defendants have been unable to identify 

any public (or even any reasonably available private) information that would have contradicted, 

much less conclusively refuted, the information Singh provided to the investigators. 

Unwilling to address the facts and unable to show the investigation was unreasonable, 

defendants argue that this Court should forego the Rule 11 analysis it was charged with conducting.  

Defendants claim “the Court need not address” the facts, circumstances and arguments made by 

Robbins Geller “because Judge Conlon has already found that counsel failed to conduct a reasonable 

investigation.”  Dkt. 270 at 11.  But Judge Conlon’s dismissal order did not even mention Rule 11.  

Dkt. 201.  And while defendants now argue the dismissal order contains “findings that warrant 

sanctions,” they argued on appeal that “the district court failed to make the required Rule 11 

findings.”  Dkt. 270 at 4; App. Dkt. 70 at 4.  Defendants asked the Seventh Circuit to direct the 

imposition of sanctions based on the dismissal order, but the Seventh Circuit declined to do so.  App. 

Dkt. 62 at 65-66. 

Without facts or law to show a Rule 11 violation in this case, defendants argue the Court 

should sanction the Firm for conduct in other cases.  Defendants sling mud at the Firm by 

misreading other cases and by citing a small fraction of cases handled by the Firm, in which 

sanctions have not been imposed or were never even discussed.  For example, defendants no longer 

defend their incorrect representation to both this Court and the Seventh Circuit that the court in 

Applestein v. Medivation, Inc., 861 F. Supp. 2d 1030 (N.D. Cal. 2012), “held that Robbins Geller 

submitted contradictory and unreliable confidential source statements.”  Dkt. 263 at 27; App. Dkt. 62 

at 35.  Instead, defendants make another misrepresentation, claiming Robbins Geller had a duty to 

“review and approve” the operative complaint in that case.  Dkt. 270 at 13 n.5.  However, Robbins 
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Geller had no such duty, or even any right, to review and approve the complaint drafted by, and 

investigative materials of, the court-appointed lead counsel who represented the court-appointed lead 

plaintiff.  See 15 U.S.C. §78u-4(a)(3)(B)(v) (Selection of lead counsel.) and 15 U.S.C. §78u-4(a)(3) 

(Appointment of lead plaintiff.); Dkt. 269 at 12.  Robbins Geller had no more duty in that case than 

Kirkland & Ellis had to review and approve Boeing’s filings after being replaced by Perkins Coie in 

this case. 

Defendants do not “reply” to Robbins Geller’s response.  Defendants do not contest that 

lawyers are entitled to rely on investigators.  Dkt. 270 at 7.  Defendants do not dispute that a single 

witness is sufficient to support a verdict, much less an allegation that is specifically labeled as 

“[a]ccording to” that witness.  Id. at 9.  Defendants do not identify any public or private information 

known by, or reasonably available to, Robbins Geller to refute the information Singh provided to the 

investigators.  Defendants do not respond to the facts showing Singh had a clear motive to 

discontinue his cooperation after speaking to the investigators and then to change his story.  Dkt. 269 

at 9-10.  Defendants have not shown that Singh would have said anything different if plaintiffs’ 

lawyers were present during the interviews.  Even months after talking to the investigators, Singh 

was still representing, on a resume submitted to Boeing, that he was a “Chief Engineer” employed by 

“Boeing” working on the “787-8.”  Dkt. 269 at 23.  Defendants abandon their earlier contention that 

Rule 11 required Robbins Geller to confirm Singh’s employment with Boeing or Infotech prior to 

filing the complaint, implicitly conceding that such an inquiry is unrealistic and not required by Rule 

11.  Id. at 25-26. 

The essence of defendants’ argument is simply that since Singh did not testify consistent with 

the allegations in the complaint, Robbins Geller’s investigation must not have been reasonable.  But 

neither logic nor the law supports that argument.  “[T]hat a witness subsequently testifies in a 

manner that contradicts statements attributed to him in a pleading is not sufficient to establish that 

counsel failed to make a reasonable inquiry with respect to that witness.”  In re BankAtlantic 

Bancorp, Inc., 851 F. Supp. 2d 1299, 1312 (S.D. Fla. 2011), aff’d sub nom. Hubbard v. BankAtlantic 

Bancorp, Inc., 503 F. App’x 677 (11th Cir. 2012).  Rather, “[s]uch discrepancies may be attributed 
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to a witness’s . . . desire to remain in a former employer’s good graces once the protection of 

confidentiality has been removed.”  Id.  Thus, “[w]hether the confidential witnesses initially made 

the statements attributed to them in the complaints is essentially a credibility question.  In this 

context, Rule 11 sanctions are not appropriate.”  Id.  Even the Supreme Court has “recognized in a 

variety of contexts that a party ‘cannot be absolutely certain that his witnesses will testify as 

expected,’” which “led long ago to abandonment of the common-law rule that a party automatically 

‘vouches for’ and hence is inexorably bound by what the witnesses say.”  James v. Illinois, 493 U.S. 

307, 315 & n.5 (1990).1  Robbins Geller complied with Rule 11 in this case.  Sanctions are not 

warranted. 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. Robbins Geller’s Investigation Satisfied the Rule 11 Standard 

Rule 11 requires an “inquiry reasonable under the circumstances” and that “factual 

contentions have evidentiary support.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b).  Defendants’ argument for sanctions is 

based on their contention that Robbins Geller should not have included the allegations relating to 

Singh in the complaints.  Dkt. 270 at 9-10.  In responding, Robbins Geller noted the allegations 

identified as “[a]ccording to the CS” were supported by their investigators’ interviews of Singh, and 

corroborated, not refuted, by all other available information.  Dkt. 269 at 23-25.  Robbins Geller has 

never tried to avoid its obligations under Rule 11 or to blame others for its conduct, as defendants 

claim.  Dkt. 270 at 6, 11.  Rather, the Firm has shown it conducted a “reasonable inquiry” into the 

facts and had factual support for the complaint’s allegations. 

Defendants’ opening brief suggested that the PSLRA imposes a heightened Rule 11 standard.  

Dkt. 263 at 21-22.  Robbins Geller identified controlling and persuasive authority showing that the 

substantive analysis under Rule 11 is unaltered by the PSLRA.  Dkt. 269 at 12-15.  Thus, courts 

must ignore hindsight, give counsel the benefit of the doubt, and impose sanctions only in 

circumstances where the allegations are “‘utterly void of support.’”  Id.  The point is not to suggest 

Rule 11 is a low standard, but to explain that Rule 11 does not create a standard so high that the 

                                                 
1 Unless otherwise noted, internal citations are omitted and emphasis is added. 
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average, reasonable lawyer cannot meet it or that interferes with the role of an advocate.  A lawyer’s 

signature on a complaint represents that the allegations have factual support; it does not guarantee 

his or her client will win the case or prove each and every factual allegation therein.  Dkt. 269 at 25.  

Showing that Singh mischaracterized his employment to the investigators, as he did on his publicly 

available resume and the resume he submitted to Boeing, is not a ground to sanction Robbins Geller.  

See In re Golf 255, Inc., 652 F.3d 806, 809 (7th Cir. 2011) (witness perjury is not a “fraud on the 

court” by counsel). 

Defendants incorrectly suggest that Robbins Geller misstated the law by quoting cases 

holding that sanctions are not warranted unless allegations are “‘utterly lacking’” or “‘utterly void of 

support.’”  Dkt. 270 at 1, 6.  Defendants argue that such a standard would allow a lawyer to rely 

upon patently false information.  Id. at 1.  But allegations supported by patently frivolous 

information would be utterly lacking support.  “A factual claim is frivolous if no reasonably 

competent attorney could conclude that it has a reasonable evidentiary basis, because it is supported 

by no evidence or only by ‘patently frivolous’ evidence.”  BankAtlantic, 851 F. Supp. 2d at 1308.2  

Defendants turn to the Ninth Circuit to argue that the correct standard for the Court to apply is: 

“attorneys may not base claims on ‘evidence’ that could be debunked with reasonable diligence.”  

Dkt. 270 at 7.  Robbins Geller has not argued for anything less.  However, defendants have not 

identified any other public, or reasonably available private, information that was available through 

reasonable diligence to “debunk” the information Singh provided.  Defendants’ request for sanctions 

therefore should be denied. 

1. Robbins Geller’s Investigation Was Reasonable “Under the 
Circumstances” 

Tellingly, defendants do not reply to the facts and “circumstances” of the investigation 

identified by Robbins Geller that show the investigation was reasonable.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b).  For 

                                                 
2 In BankAtlantic, the court imposed sanctions with respect to the allegations attributed to one witness 
because the investigator recorded that particular conversation and the allegations were inconsistent with the 
transcript.  Id. at 1312-14.  Defendants have not made that claim in this case.  The court in BankAtlantic also 
discussed counsel’s supervision of its investigator.  Here, too, Robbins Geller supervised its investigators and 
no claim has been made that their supervision was inadequate. 
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example, defendants do not dispute that formal discovery was not available to confirm or debunk 

Singh’s information.  And defendants ignore, rather than address, the publicly available information 

that corroborated Singh’s description of his employment.  Dkt. 269 at 2-3.  Defendants have not 

shown that from an ex ante perspective it was clear that discovery would not support the allegations.  

See, e.g., City of Livonia Emps. Ret. Sys. v. Boeing Co., 711 F.3d 754, 762 (7th Cir. 2013) (stating 

representations not grounded in an “‘inquiry reasonable under the circumstances’ or that are unlikely 

to ‘have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery’” 

violate Rule 11) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b)(3)); Ind. State Dist. Council v. Omnicare, Inc., 719 

F.3d 498, 508 (6th Cir. 2013) (holding “[e]ven giving the confidential witness statements minimal 

weight, however, we do not doubt that sufficient facts have been presented to ‘raise a reasonable 

expectation that discovery will reveal evidence’”) (citing Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 

556 (2007)); Model Rules of Prof’l Conduct R. 3.1 cmt. n.2 (a complaint “is not frivolous merely 

because the facts have not first been fully substantiated or because the lawyer expects to develop 

vital evidence only by discovery”). 

Defendants implicitly concede that filing a complaint before hiring an investigator does not 

violate Rule 11, as they offer no reply to Robbins Geller’s arguments other than a footnote citing 

back to their initial brief.  Dkt. 270 at 9 n.2.  Confidential witnesses are not required for a plaintiff to 

state a viable claim of securities fraud, and defendants do not claim that Robbins Geller failed to 

conduct an exhaustive review and analysis of the substantial volume of publicly available 

information that the Seventh Circuit recognizes is the “heart” of a securities-fraud investigation.  

See, e.g., Am. Bank v. City of Menasha, 627 F.3d 261, 265 (7th Cir. 2010) (noting that corporate 

documents filed with the SEC “are often at the heart of the precomplaint investigation required by 

the Private Securities Law Reform Act”). 

The lynchpin of defendants’ entire argument is that Robbins Geller “blindly relied without 

any additional corroboration or justification” on the investigators’ interviews of Singh.  Dkt. 270 at 

12-13.  This argument is refuted by both the law and the facts. 
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2. Rule 11 Did Not Require Further “Corroboration and 
Justification,” but Robbins Geller Had It Anyway 

Lawyers may rely on investigators.  In BankAtlantic, the court noted, as here, that 

“[d]efendants make much of the fact that Class Counsel did not personally undertake to interview the 

confidential witnesses but rather, relied on the detailed notes and memoranda provided by their 

investigators . . . .”  851 F. Supp. 2d at 1311.  But the court rejected that argument because “an 

attorney has a non-delegable duty to analyze the facts and law that support a pleading or motion, not 

necessarily to personally gather those facts.”  Id. (emphasis in original).  Additionally, defendants do 

not dispute that because a single witness can sustain a burden of proof at trial, a single witness is 

sufficient for allegations in a complaint, particularly allegations specifically identified as 

“[a]ccording to” that witness.  Dkt. 270 at 12; Dkt. 63, ¶¶139-143.  Thus, defendants have failed to 

show that multiple sources for an allegation are required by Rule 11, as they claim.  Dkt. 270 at 12-

13. 

Despite defendants’ dramatic characterization of the information as “sensational” and 

“blockbuster,” there was nothing so inherently fanciful about the information Singh provided to the 

investigator that no reasonable lawyer could possibly believe it could be true.  Dkt. 270 at 9.  The 

information was self-corroborating; and even though not required, there was further corroboration 

and justification.  The key interview of Singh was done by an experienced investigator who was 

invited into Singh’s home for the interview.  Dkt. 101-2, Ex. A at 1.  Singh provided similar 

information to two investigators.  Dkts. 152, 153, 101.  Singh’s information was sufficiently detailed 

to make it self-corroborating.  See United States v. Hernandez, 85 F.3d 1023, 1028 (2d Cir. 1996) 

(“‘[a] detailed eye-witness report of a crime is self-corroborating; it supplies its own indicia of 

reliability’”); Dkt. 269 at 5-6.  Singh disclosed details regarding the test failures that were not 

otherwise public, and the investigator declared that she did not learn this information from any 

source other than Singh.  Dkt. 153, ¶21.  Singh indisputably worked at Boeing, and his ability to 

describe his work there necessarily added credibility to his assertion that he worked for Boeing.  

Defendants have not claimed Singh had a motive to lie to the investigator; nor have they alleged he 

was offered any inducement to cooperate. 
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In addition, Singh’s information was consistent with plaintiffs’ analysis of publicly available 

information, which supported management’s knowledge of the test failures regarding the company’s 

most important new product.  See, e.g., Dkt. 63, ¶117 (Wall Street Journal article reported “Boeing 

said its engineers and senior executives alike had known since May of the structural problem that 

will keep the jet grounded, possibly for months”); see also id., ¶106 (defendant Carson stating “we 

discovered in a test condition several weeks ago an anomaly that we saw”); id., ¶¶119-121 (alleging 

based on media reports that an employee of a Boeing partner in Japan said Boeing approached them 

about the problem before it was disclosed to the public); id., ¶116 (stock analyst reporting “[t]he fact 

that the emergent failure was known for a few weeks but only recently understood as a show stopper 

to the first flight raises the question of . . . credibility”). 

Discovery was never completed, and defendants have not shown that all of Singh’s 

information was false, much less that any of it was patently false from an ex ante perspective.  Dkt. 

269 at 14.  Defendants argue that the record is conclusive and that Judge Conlon and the Seventh 

Circuit “held” that Singh never saw the communications that showed scienter.  Dkt. 270 at 12.  But 

there was no such holding, as discovery was not complete and the Seventh Circuit stated that 

“Singh’s role in or knowledge of those test results, or of any communications to the individual 

defendants, was and is unknown.”  Boeing, 711 F. 3d at 760.  Although defendants submitted eight 

declarations, none were from the individual defendants and none denied the test failures or 

management’s knowledge thereof.  Id. at 8; Dkt. 93.  As to Singh’s claimed employment for Boeing, 

defendants have not shown it was inherently incredible on an ex ante basis, and fail to reply to the 

fact that it was consistent with his publicly available resume and on-line biography, and self-

corroborated by Singh’s ability to provide detailed, non-public information.  Dkt. 269 at 5- 6, 25; 

Dkt. 193-6, Exs. 18-19.  Defendants have not shown that Rule 11 requires multiple sources for an 

allegation; nor have they rebutted the corroboration that was available to Robbins Geller.  Thus, the 

allegations had sufficient support. 
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3. Defendants Fail to Identify Available Information to “Debunk” 
Singh’s Information 

Rule 11 requires a “reasonable” investigation and, for that reason, forbids a hindsight 

analysis of what more could have been done based on how things turned out.  See Corley v. 

Rosewood Care Ctr., 388 F.3d 990, 1014 (7th Cir. 2004); Dkt. 270 at 6-8.  Setting that well-

established legal principle aside, defendants have consistently stated that Robbins Geller could have 

uncovered information to “debunk” Singh’s information.  Dkt. 263 at 23; Dkt. 270 at 8-9.  Yet they 

are equally consistent in failing to explain how or to identify what information could have been 

uncovered.  See id. 

Defendants are left to argue that Robbins Geller’s attorneys should have participated in the 

interview of Singh.  Dkt. 270 at 9.  Not only have defendants failed to refute the legal authorities 

showing that lawyers may rely on investigators, they have failed to show how the presence of an 

attorney from Robbins Geller at Singh’s interview would have made a difference in this case.  The 

investigator had a decade of experience (Dkt. 101-2, ¶2), and there is every reason to believe Singh 

would have provided the same information that he put on his publicly available resume and the 

resume he submitted to Boeing months later.  Dkt. 218, Ex. Q; Dkt. 269 at 7.  Moreover, between his 

interview and his deposition, Singh had over 70 communications with Boeing (many relating to 

employment) and was interviewed by the FBI.  Dkt. 207-2, Ex. P; Dkt. 160, Ex. 1 at 7.  Singh even 

followed up with Boeing after his deposition, asking for a thank you, and later, a job.  Dkt. 193-2, 

Ex. 1; Dkt. 218, Ex. Q.  This record shows Singh had a clear motive to change his story after the 

complaint was filed.  Dkt. 173-1, Ex. 1; Dkt. 193-2, Ex. 1; Dkt. 263 at 10.  See also BankAtlantic, 

851 F. Supp. at 1312 (discrepancies in a confidential witness’s statements “may be attributed to . . . 

the desire to remain in a former employer’s good graces once the protection of confidentiality has 

been removed”).  Thus, defendants have not shown Robbins Geller was required to participate in the 

interview; nor have they shown it would have made a difference in this case. 
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4. Singh’s Decision to Stop Cooperating and the Purported “Red 
Flag” Did Not Make His Information Patently Frivolous 

In their reply, defendants make much of the fact that Singh later told the investigator “he 

would no longer cooperate.”  Dkt. 270 at 8.  From this, defendants make the illogical leap that 

“plaintiffs’ counsel knew or should have known that the source would not provide any further 

information and would not testify on the plaintiffs’ behalf.” Id. at 9.  Simply because Singh no 

longer wished to provide information to the investigator did not mean he could refuse to testify if 

subpoenaed or that he would change his account when placed under oath.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 45.  Singh 

did not say the information he previously provided was untrue.  Dkt. 101-2, ¶¶11-12; Dkt. 153, ¶23.  

And Singh’s desire to stop cooperating made sense in light of telling the investigator “he was 

currently working on a project involving Boeing.”  Id.  Even in the absence of a desire for a future 

relationship with Boeing, a witness may decide he no longer wants to spend his time cooperating in a 

case where he has nothing to gain.  Defendants provide no legal authority suggesting lawyers may 

only bring cases with a “willing” witness.  To the contrary, unwilling and even adverse witnesses are 

routinely used in trials, and sometimes make the best witnesses.3 

Relying on unwilling witnesses is inevitable in a securities fraud, as opposed to, for example, 

a breach-of-contract case.  Robbins Geller cannot simply put its client(s) on the stand, rest its case, 

and cross-examine the other side.  Key documents and witnesses with knowledge of internal 

meetings are in defendants’ control.  Current employees are seldom “willing” to testify against their 

bosses, and even former employees may fear it will jeopardize their ability to get positive 

                                                 
3 A notable example is the government’s use of Scott Fawell in the criminal trial of former Governor 
George Ryan.  News reports described Mr. Fawell as having been about as unwilling a witness as imaginable: 
(a) Fawell cooperated only after having been convicted in his own trial; and (b) even then, he testified that he 
did so reluctantly because the government put his “‘head in a vise.’”  Matt O’Connor & Rudolph Bush, A 
Cocky Fawell Gets in First Digs, Chi. Trib., Sept. 30, 2005.  Fawell had serious credibility issues, including 
he: (a) was a convicted felon; (b) claimed the government’s witnesses lied in his trial; and (c) did not believe 
the governor’s conduct was criminal.  Matt O’Connor & Rudolph Bush, Wave and Smile End Fawell’s 
Testimony, Chi. Trib., Oct. 26, 2005.  Lawyers are not held to higher standards than prosecutors.  Model 
Rules of Prof’l Conduct R. 3.8.  However, the credibility of opposing witnesses is typically a matter for cross 
examination and a jury’s consideration, not Rule 11 sanctions.  See In re JDS Uniphase Corp. Sec. Litig., No. 
C 02-1486 CW, 2008 WL 753758, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 19, 2008) (rejecting motion for sanctions based on 
conflict between confidential witness and investigators’ notes because it was an issue of credibility and 
“sanctions are not appropriate in this context”). 
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recommendations from their past employers.  However, reluctant witnesses are not forbidden 

witnesses, particularly where, as here, discovery of the communications Singh described would have 

negated the need to rely on Singh at trial. 

Similarly, defendants have failed to show that the investigator’s note about her inability to 

confirm the reporting hierarchy because of a “dearth of information” meant Singh’s information was 

patently false or even dubious from an ex ante perspective.  Dkt. 269 at 26-27.  Defendants have not 

identified publicly available information to refute the hierarchy.  Id.  Also, despite their reliance on 

the dismissal order, defendants do not address Judge Conlon’s most relevant statement, wherein the 

Court noted that, upon its ex ante review of the investigator’s notes, it “conclude[d] that there was a 

good faith basis for the allegations.”  Dkt. 201 at 4.  Finally, defendants cannot show that no 

reasonably competent lawyer would rely on Singh under such circumstances, when defendants and 

defense counsel relied on Singh in moving for dismissal, despite clear credibility issues from their 

perspective, as Singh accused them of submitting false evidence to the Court and testified contrary to 

a declaration they submitted from another witness.  Dkt. 269 at 27.  Thus, Robbins Geller acted 

reasonably in relying on the information from Singh. 

B. The Oral Statements Were Supported by the Same Basis as the 
Complaint’s Allegations 

Without having identified the specific oral statements or statements contained in briefs that 

they are referring to, defendants claim Robbins Geller never responded to their claims that such 

statements also violated Rule 11.  Dkt. 270 at 10.  However, Robbins Geller provided several 

responses.  Undeveloped and ambiguous criticisms fail to provide the notice required by Rule 11 and 

cannot form the basis of sanctions.  Dkt. 269 at 15-16.  In addition, oral statements are generally not 

subject to Rule 11 because they have less time for reflection.  Id. at 29-30; see also Hubbard v. 

United States, 514 U.S. 695, 701 (1995) (Scalia, J., concurring in part and concurring in the 

judgment) (warning that applying 18 U.S.C. §1001 to allegedly false statements made in federal 

court could have a chilling effect on legitimate trial advocacy).  Also, the statements defendants do 

identify are often inaccurately characterized, rather than quoted.  Dkt. 270 at 8-11.  Finally, 

defendants’ argument that the “briefing” should not have included statements “concerning a source 
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who had refused to cooperate, who had not been corroborated, and whom counsel had never met” 

simply repeat the same arguments about the allegations in the complaint and, for all the same 

reasons, fail to show a violation of Rule 11.  Dkt. 270 at 10 (emphasis in original). 

Defendants mostly refer to characterizations by counsel of evidence (“‘smoking-gun genre’”) 

or characterizations in the dismissal order or Seventh Circuit opinion of counsel’s statements 

(“‘confident assurances’”).  Dkt. 270 at 10.  The use of adjectives to advocate a favorable view of the 

evidence, e.g., “smoking-gun,” is not sanctionable because such statements are not objectively 

determinable facts.  Dkt. 269 at 13.  Moreover, the fact that counsel listed Singh on plaintiffs’ Rule 

26(a) disclosures, told defendants Singh was the CW, and then suggested that Boeing depose Singh 

(all the while expressing confidence that Singh would support the allegations), shows that Robbins 

Geller was acting in good faith and fully expected Singh to testify consistent with what he told the 

investigators and put on his resume, even after Singh declined to provide further information.  The 

fact that Singh did not testify as expected is not a ground for finding a violation of Rule 11. 

C. The Dismissal Order Did Not Make Rule 11 Findings 

Despite defendants’ attempt to unearth findings from the dismissal order on the very issues 

remanded to this Court, the dismissal order did not mention Rule 11, its standards, or make any 

findings regarding Rule 11.  Defendants made the same argument on appeal, asserting “it is 

appropriate for this Court to direct an award of Boeing’s reasonable attorney’s fees and other 

expenses” because “the record already includes sufficient findings to justify sanctions.”  App. Dkt. 

62 at 65; see also App. Dkt. 70 at 29 (arguing “[t]he case should be remanded with instructions to 

impose sanctions on plaintiff’s counsel”).  However, the Seventh Circuit remanded to determine 

“whether to impose Rule 11 sanctions.”  Boeing, 711 F.3d at 762. 

Defendants mischaracterize statements from the dismissal order and the Seventh Circuit 

opinion as “findings” or the “law of the case” regarding the very issues remanded to this Court.  Dkt. 

270 at 4, 9 n.1.  However, judicial opinions cannot be stretched beyond the language essential to 

their holdings.  See Jutzi-Johnson v. United States, 263 F.3d 753, 764 (7th Cir. 2001) (“‘Dicta are the 

parts of an opinion that are not binding on a subsequent court, whether as a matter of stare decisis or 
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as a matter of law of the case’” because “‘they may not express the judges’ most careful, focused 

thinking.’”). 

Moreover, defendants’ selective use of statements from the dismissal order ignores relevant 

language that undermines their contention that Judge Conlon already held the investigation was 

inadequate and that Robbins Geller made “deliberately misleading representations.”  Dkt. 270 at 10.  

While defendants refer to “deliberate” misrepresentations (id. at 10), Judge Conlon only referred to 

misrepresentations or “flawed representations.”  Dkt. 201 at 8.  Judge Conlon did not make findings 

regarding intent.  The dismissal order explicitly stated that “[t]he court need not determine whether 

Singh is responsible for the disinformation in the second amended complaint and proliferated in 

plaintiffs’ subsequent pleadings and representations to the court.”  Id. at 8.  The dismissal order 

stated that reconsideration was warranted, even if based on “the court’s own misperception of the 

facts.”  Id. at 7.  Similarly, defendants overstate the significance of Judge Conlon’s statements 

regarding the investigation by ignoring that the dismissal order was expressly based on “later 

developed facts” and omitting indefinite terms like “nor does it appear” when they selectively quote 

partial sentences from Judge Conlon’s order.  Dkt. 270 at 2; Dkt. 201 at 4, 8. 

If Judge Conlon had decided the investigation violated Rule 11 or counsel made “deliberate” 

misrepresentations as defendants claim, the Court would have imposed sanctions or issued an order 

to show cause to provide Robbins Geller with its required notice and opportunity to respond under 

Rule 11.  See J.H. Chapman Grp. v. Chapman, No. 95 C 7716, 1996 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5230, at *10-

*11 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 18, 1996) (Conlon, J.) (stating sanctions can be imposed “after the court sua 

sponte issues an order describing the conduct that appears to violate the rule and directs the offender 

to show cause why it is not in violation”).  In short, the factual and legal arguments presented in this 

proceeding were not considered, much less rejected, by Judge Conlon and no findings regarding 

Rule 11 were made. 

D. Defendants’ Errors Undermine Their Argument for Sanctions 

In seeking sanctions, defendants have made misrepresentations, most of which they do not 

defend in their Reply.  Dkt. 269 at 11-12, 17-20, 28-29.  Robbins Geller has not been as quick to 
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attribute bad faith to defense counsel.  However, factual errors cannot support a request for sanctions 

and, instead, undermine the related arguments as well as the unforgiving interpretation of Rule 11 

advocated by defendants. 

For example, defendants initially accused Robbins Geller of “fraud,” yet they have never 

explained the “reasonable inquiry” they purportedly conducted nor explained the sufficiency of the 

factual support they relied upon to demonstrate what Rule 11 requires.4  Their investigation and 

factual support was substantially less than the investigation and support relied on by Robbins Geller.  

Defendants had not even spoken to Singh or seen the investigator’s notes when they made their 

allegations.  Dkt. 140, ¶4; Dkt. 153, Exs. A-B.  Yet, by accusing Robbins Geller of fraud, defendants 

had ruled out any possibility that Singh had told plaintiffs’ investigators that he was a chief engineer 

for Boeing on the 787-8, even though defendants had information in their possession to the contrary 

– specifically, the resume Singh had just sent to Boeing containing the same information.  Dkt. 269 

at 7; see also Dkt. 218, Ex. Q.  The declarations defendants submitted did not reference Robbins 

Geller, its investigators, or its investigation, and offered no support for their claim of fraud.  Dkt. 93.  

Rather than using their declarations to argue that Singh may have lied to Robbins Geller, defendants 

made the rash and unsupported accusation that Robbins Geller had lied to the court.  Cf. Standards 

for Professional Conduct Within the Seventh Federal Judicial Circuit, Lawyers’ Duties to Other 

Counsel, ¶4 (“We will not, absent good cause, attribute bad motives or improper conduct to other 

counsel or bring the profession into disrepute by unfounded accusations of impropriety.”).5  If 

defendants believed Rule 11 permitted them to accuse Robbins Geller of fraud based on that 

                                                 
4 The words defense counsel used, e.g., “fraud,” “falsified,” “fabrications,” and “lied,” all relate to 
intentional, knowing misconduct; not simply failure to do enough, as they now claim.  See Dkt. 92 at 1-3. 

5 The proceedings may have been far less contentious and inflammatory if defendants had not made these 
overwrought claims against opposing counsel, which they no longer defend.  Defendants made similar claims 
of fraud to news reporters who wrote articles critical of the Firm.  Dkt. 269 at 22 n.15.  However, those 
reporters were unaware that Singh accused defendants of submitting false declarations and that Singh had 
submitted a resume to Boeing making the same representations about his employment that he had made to 
plaintiffs’ investigators (because Boeing initially claimed those materials were confidential).  Id.; App. Dkt. 
32. 
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investigation and those supporting declarations, defendants can hardly argue Robbins Geller’s much 

more substantial investigation and support was insufficient. 

E. Other Cases Cited by Defendants Do Not Support Sanctions in This Case 

Defendants do not reply to Robbins Geller’s argument regarding its overall reputation and the 

infrequency with which these situations have occurred.  Defendants continue to be completely wrong 

regarding Medivation (as discussed herein), but hide behind the error they created by claiming the 

“Seventh Circuit expressly ruled that counsel has engaged in ‘similar misconduct’ in [Medivation 

and two] other cases.”  Dkt. 270 at 3.  Defendants do not explain how the Seventh Circuit could have 

“expressly ruled” that there was misconduct in Medivation or any other case not before the court.  

Dkt. 270 at 3. 

Defendants continue to argue that Glaser v. The9, Ltd., 772 F. Supp. 2d 573 (S.D.N.Y. 

2011); Livingston v. Cablevision Systems Corp., No. 12-CV-377 (KAM)(SMG), 2013 WL 4763430 

(E.D.N.Y. Sept. 5, 2013); and City of Pontiac General Employees’ Retirement System v. Stryker 

Corp., 865 F. Supp. 2d 811 (W.D. Mich. 2012), are cases where confidential witnesses “were later 

discovered to lack personal knowledge of the allegations.”  Dkt. 270 at 13 n.5.  But there was no 

such discovery in those cases.  Dkt. 269 at 17.  Defendants’ suggestion that the grant of a motion to 

dismiss is evidence of misconduct by plaintiffs’ counsel is no more credible than a suggestion that 

the denial of such a motion is evidence of misconduct by defense counsel. 

F. Arguments Concerning the Type or Amount of Sanction Are Premature  

Robbins Geller has argued that it fully complied with Rule 11, so no sanctions should be 

imposed.  The type and amount of sanction can vary depending on whether a sanction is found to be 

de minimus or severe.  Until a violation has been found, it is impossible to respond.  See In re AOL 

Repurchase Offer Litig., No. 12 Civ. 3497 (DLC), 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 171776, at *13 (S.D.N.Y. 

Dec. 5, 2013) (finding counsel violated Rule 11 by making unsupported allegations and noting that 

“[a] separate Order will address the process for setting the amount of the sanctions that will be 

imposed”). 
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III. CONCLUSION 

Sanctions are not warranted in this case.  The hard-earned reputation of the Firm and its 

individual lawyers shows that it is comprised of some of the very best lawyers in this field, who are 

as concerned about their ethical obligations to courts as they are about providing the best possible 

representation to their clients.  Dismissals in this complex area of the law are not evidence of 

wrongdoing, as both lawyers and courts can find it difficult to determine what is sufficient to state a 

claim.  See Silverman v. Motorola Solutions, Inc., Nos. 12-2339, 12-2354, 2013 U.S. App. LEXIS 

16878, at *6 (7th Cir. Aug. 14, 2013) (affirming a $200 million settlement obtained by Robbins 

Geller after district court denied defendants’ motion for summary judgment and noting “[w]hen this 

suit got under way, no other law firm was willing to serve as lead counsel”); Plumbers & Pipefitters 

Nat’l Pension Fund v. Burns, 292 F.R.D. 515, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77493, at *26 (N.D. Ohio 

2013) (noting “plaintiffs, with the help of Robbins Geller, have twice successfully appealed this 

court’s orders granting defendants’ motion to dismiss”). 

The Firm has already been impacted by the dismissal order and the Seventh Circuit opinion, 

as lawyers cannot appeal language simply because it may cause reputational harm.  Seymour v. Hug, 

485 F.3d 926, 929 (7th Cir. 2007).  The Firm is sensitive to the issues raised herein and has devoted 

considerable time and energy, including meetings among its partners, to discuss the opinions issued 

by this Court and the Seventh Circuit.  However, Robbins Geller respectfully submits that it 

complied with Rule 11 in this case.  Despite ample opportunity, defendants have not offered any 

evidence that Robbins Geller (i) knew the allegations were untrue, (ii) proceeded with patently 

frivolous support, (iii) engaged in the litigation in bad faith, or (iv) conducted an investigation that 

fell below the standard of peer firms.  Accordingly, Robbins Geller respectfully requests that no 

sanctions be imposed. 

DATED:  December 16, 2013 Respectfully submitted, 
 

By:  s/ JAMES E. BARZ 
 JAMES E. BARZ 
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